Bar-Ilan University Faculty of Exact Sciences Department Of Mathematics

COMPACTIFICATIONS OF SEMIGROUP ACTIONS

LEONID GUGEL

 $\operatorname{Lecture}$ in Seminar "Topology of actions and representations"

Supervisor: Prof. Michael Megrelishvili

May 7, 2006

RAMAT-GAN, ISRAEL

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Topological Background	3
2.1. Compactifications of topological spaces	3
2.2. Proximities and Proximity spaces. Smirnov's Theorem	4
3. Dynamical systems	5
3.1. Transformations	5
3.2. Proximities and functions on S-spaces	6
4. Some "good" examples of equicompactifications	8
4.1. Unit ball of Hilbert space	8
4.2. Some Maximal G-compactifications of \mathbb{R}^n	9
References	9

ABSTRACT. In this lecture I'll explain about basic ideas about semigroup action of a topological semigroup S on topological space X and equicompactifications of Sspaces. We give a transparent description of such compactifications (a generalized Smirnov's theorem) in terms of S-proximities, special action compatible proximities on X by analytical way (spacial subalgebras of algebra of all bounded continuous functions C(X)). Also we will give some "beautiful" examples of equicompactifications in case of topological groups.

1. INTRODUCTION

A topological transformation group (G-space, or a G-flow) is a continuous action of a topological group G on a topological space X. This is a one of the most basic mathematical objects. The study of G-spaces in their own right began systematically in the late 1940s, when W.H. Gottshalk and G.A Hendlund [7] generalized several classical dynamical results from the theory of differential equations and other branches of mathematics. The investigation of the behavior of G-spaces became known as topological dynamics or abstract dynamics. In the 1960's, this field grew rapidly under the influence of R.Ellis, H. Furstenberg, J. Auslander, and others. Topological dynamics lies at the junction of several other branches of mathematics, including classical dynamics, topology and functional analysis. Thus, results in topological dynamics often have far-reaching consequences.

The next stage in development of topological dynamics was the study of continuous action of a topological semigroup S. This structure is a natural generalization of G-spaces and is known as topological transformation semigroups (S-spaces, or S-flows). They play a major role in several mathematical investigations. For instance in combinatorial number theory (see for example, [20]).

We intend to study some concepts and ideas in topological dynamics which are well known and important in topology and abstract analysis. One of the main objects of our research is the dynamical analogue of the compactification concept. Compactifiability of topological spaces means the existence of topological embeddings into compact spaces. For the compactifiability of flows we require in addition the continuous extendability of the original action. As is known [5, Chapter 8], compactifiable

2

topological spaces are exactly spaces with uniform topology (uniform spaces). Therefore, the dynamical generalization of this problem, must be related with the theory of uniform structures with respect to some action. This area of abstract dynamic is known as the *equivariant topology*. Compactifiable *G*-spaces are known also as *G*-Tychonoff spaces or spaces with a proper *G*-compactification.

From topological space theory, we know, that the set of all compactifications of a Tychonoff space X can be described in several ways. By Banach subalgebras of algebra C(X) (Gelfand-Naimark 1-1 correspondence, see [21]). By totally bounded (precompact) uniformities on X (see [5, p.563]), or proximities on X (Smirnov's Theorem see in [5, p.563]). The first two correspondences admit dynamical generalizations in the category of G-flows (see for example J. de Vries [22]). The correspondence by proximities for G-spaces was announced without proof by Yu.M. Smirnov in [1].

2. TOPOLOGICAL BACKGROUND

First of all we remind some concepts of topology.

2.1. Compactifications of topological spaces. Now we recall some auxiliary basic concepts from general topology concerning compact extensions of topological spaces. For more detailed description see R. Engelking [5, p.165-280].

Definition 2.1. Let X be a topological space. A pair (Y, c), where Y is compact and $c: X \to Y$ is a homeomorphic embedding of the space X into Y such that $\overline{c(X)} = Y$, is called *proper compactification* (or simply, *compactification*) of the space X.

It is well known that a topological space X has a compactification if and only if X is Tychonoff $(T_{3\frac{1}{2}})$ space. We denote by $\mathscr{C}(X)$ the family of all different compactifications of the given Tychonoff space X. Often we shall identify the space X with the subspace c(X) (homeomorphic to X) of the compactification cX of X.

A partial order can be defined on the family $\mathscr{C}(X)$.

Definition 2.2. We say that c_1X dominates c_2X (and write $c_2X \leq c_1X$) if and only if there exists a continuous mapping $f : c_1X \to c_2X$ such that $f \circ c_1 = c_2$.

The relation between compactifications c_1 and c_2 of X may be illustrated by the following commutative diagram:



If two compactifications c_1 and c_2 satisfy $c_1 \leq c_2$ and $c_2 \leq c_1$, that we say that they are *equivalent* compactifications. Notation: $c_1 \sim c_2$.

Usually Tychonoff spaces have many different compactifications, but there always exists a maximal compactification in the set $\mathscr{C}(X)$. This compactification is called the *Stone-Ĉech compactification* of X and is denoted by βX .

2.2. Proximities and Proximity spaces. Smirnov's Theorem. Proximity on X, intuitively, is a relationship between subsets of X. As a axiomatic theory, it generalizes some geometrical concepts, such as 'near' or 'separation of sets'. In 1908 this structure was introduced by F. Riesz and V.A. Efremovich (see [2, 17, Chapter 1.5]). This construction is a natural generalization of theory of metric spaces and of topological groups. The main interest for us will be the connection between proximities and compactifications (see [5]).

Definition 2.3. Let X be a nonempty set and δ be a relation in the set of all its subsets. We'll write $A\delta B$ if the sets A and B are δ -related and $A\overline{\delta}B$ if they not. The relation δ will be called *proximity* in the set X provided that the following conditions are satisfied:

(P1) $A\delta B$ if and only if $B\delta A$;

(P2) $A\delta(B \cup C)$ if and only if $A\delta B$ or $A\delta C$;

(P3) For every $x, y \in X$ the condition $\{x\}\delta\{y\}$ is equivalent to the condition x = y; (P4) $\bigotimes \overline{\delta}X$;

(P5) If $A\overline{\delta}B$, then there exist $C, D \subset X$ such that $C \cup D = X$ and $A\overline{\delta}C, B\overline{\delta}D$.

A pair (X, δ) is called a *proximity space*. Two sets $A, B \subset X$ are said to be *close* in the proximity space (X, δ) if $A\delta B$ and far if $A\overline{\delta}B$.

We say a set A is strongly contained in a set B with respect to δ , if $A\delta(X \setminus B)$ and denote by $A \subseteq B$. A finite cover $\mathscr{A} = \{A_i\}_{i=1}^n$ is called δ -cover if and only if there exist another finite cover $\mathscr{B} = \{B_i\}_{i=1}^n$, such that $B_i \subseteq A_i$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

Every proximity space (X, δ) defines a topology $\tau := top(\delta)$, by closure operator:

$$cl_{\delta}[A] := \{x : x\delta A\}, \forall A \subset X.$$

Definition 2.4. Let (X, δ_1) and (Y, δ_2) be two proximity space; A mapping $f : X \to Y$ is called *proximity continuous with respect to the proximities* δ_1 and δ_2 if for any sets $A, B \subset X, A\delta_1 B$, the images: $f(A)\delta_2 f(B)$. Or equivalently, f is proximity continuous if and only if :

$$C\overline{\delta}_2 D \Longrightarrow f^{-1}(C)\overline{\delta}_1 f^{-1}(D)$$

or

$$C \Subset_2 D \Longrightarrow f^{-1}(C) \Subset_1 f^{-1}(D).$$

Theorem 2.5. In a proximity space (X, δ) , $A\delta B$ implies that there exist a proximity continuous mapping f, such that f(A) = 0 and f(B) = 1.

Theorem 2.6. Every proximity space (X, δ) is Tychonoff with respect to topology $top(\delta)$.

First we briefly recall some classical auxiliary facts about compactifications. Due to the Gelfand-Naimark theory there is the 1-1 correspondence (up to the equivalence classes of compactifications) between Banach unital (that is, the containing the constants) subalgebras $\mathcal{A} \subset C^*(X)$ and the compactifications $\nu : X \to Y$ of X. Any Banach unital S-subalgebra \mathcal{A} of $C^*(X)$, induces the canonical \mathcal{A} -compactification $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}} : X \to X_{\mathcal{A}}$, where $X_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the Gelfand space (or, the spectrum) of the algebra \mathcal{A} . The map $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}} : X \to X_{\mathcal{A}}$ is defined by the Gelfand transform, the evaluation at x multiplicative functional, that is $\alpha(x)(f) := f(x)$. Conversely, every compactification $\nu : X \to Y$ is equivalent to the *canonical* \mathcal{A}_{ν} -compactification $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}_{\nu}} : X \to X_{\mathcal{A}_{\nu}}$, where the algebra \mathcal{A}_{ν} (corresponding to ν) is defined as the image $j_{\nu}(C^*(Y))$ of the embedding $j_{\nu} : C^*(Y) \to C^*(X), \quad \phi \mapsto \phi \circ \nu$.

Proposition 2.7. Let X be a Tychonoff space and A be Smirnov's subalgebra of $C^*(X)$. Then following relation:

(2.1) $B\delta_{\mathcal{A}}C \iff \operatorname{cl}[f(B)] \cap \operatorname{cl}[f(C)] \neq \emptyset, \forall f \in \mathcal{A}$

defines proximity on space X. And more over Smirnov's compactifications, which defined by $\delta_{\mathcal{A}}$ is corresponds with algebra \mathcal{A} .

Proposition 2.8. Let (X, δ) be proximity space. Then collection \mathcal{A}_{δ} of all δ -proximity continuous real valued bounded functions is unital subalgebra of $C^*(X)$. and $\delta = \delta_{\mathcal{A}_{\delta}}$. Also satisfy that for every unital subalgebra $\mathcal{A} C^*(X)$ of satisfy following: $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_{\delta_{\mathcal{A}}}$.

Theorem 2.9. [5, Thm.8.4.13] (The classical Smirnov theorem) By assigning to any compactification cX of a Tychonoff space X the proximity $\delta(c)$ on the space X there exists a natural one-to-one correspondence between all compactifications of X and all proximities on the space X.

Remark 2.10. Subalgebra \mathcal{A} is separates closed subsets and points of X iff compactification $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}$ is proper compactification and iff proximity $\delta_{\mathcal{A}}$ is defines is original topology of space X.

Example 2.11. Let X be a Tychonoff space. For any two nonempty sets $A, B \subset X$ define

 $A\delta_{\beta}B \Leftrightarrow \nexists f \in C^*(X)$ such that f(x) = 0 for $x \in A$ and f(x) = 1 for $x \in B$.

The relation δ_{β} defines a proximity on X, which correspondents to the Cech-Stone compactification $\beta: X \to \beta X$ of the space X.

3. Dynamical systems

Let $\langle S, \cdot \rangle$ be a semigroup and assume that also S has a topological structure τ . We say, that $\langle S, \cdot \rangle$ is a *topological semigroup*, if the multiplication map: $S \times S \to S$ is continuous. Information about the theory of topological semigroups can be found in [3].

3.1. Transformations.

Definition 3.1. Topological S-flow (or an S-space) is a triple $\langle S, X, \pi \rangle$ where $\pi : S \times X \to X$ is a jointly continuous left action of a topological semigroup S on a topological space X; we write it also as a pair $\langle S, X \rangle$, or simply, X (when π and S are understood). "Action" means that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) $\forall s_1, s_2 \in S, \forall x \in X : s_1(s_2x) = (s_1s_2)x;$
- (2) if S is monoid, e is identity of S, then $\forall x \in X : ex = x$, e.i. e is identity mapping of X.

We define for every $x \in X$ the corresponding orbit map $\tilde{x} : S \to X$, by $\tilde{x}(s) := sx$ (or we say $\tilde{x}(S)$ is S-orbit of point x) and also for every $s \in S$, translations (or \check{s} -transformations) $\check{s} : X \to X$, by $\check{s}(x) := sx$.

For every $(s, x) \in S \times X$ we define *inverse set*, $s^{-1}x := \{y \in X : sy = x\}$ and for $A \subset X$, $s^{-1}A := \bigcup \{s^{-1}a : a \in A\}$.

For $U \subset S$ and $A \subset X$ define $UA := \{y = ua; (u, a) \in U \times A\}, U^{-1}A := \bigcup \{u^{-1}A : u \in U\}$ and $U \star A := \bigcap \{u^{-1}A : u \in U\}.$

Definition 3.2. Let X be an S-flow.

- (1) Let Y be an S-flow, then function $f: X \to Y$ is called S-map if $\forall (s, x) \in S \times X \Longrightarrow f(sx) = sf(x)$.
- (2) A topological S-compactification of X is a S-map $\alpha : X \to Y$ if α is compactification of X.
- (3) A flow (S, X) is said to be *compactifiable* if there exists a *proper* topological *S*-compactification $\alpha : X \hookrightarrow Y$. A topological semigroup *S* is *compactifiable* if the flow (S, S) (left regular action) is compactifiable.

3.2. Proximities and functions on S-spaces.

Definition 3.3. Let X be a S-space. The subsets $A, B \in X$ are π -disjoint at $s_0 \in S_e$ if there exists $U \in N_{s_o}(S)$ such that $U^{-1}A \cap U^{-1}B = \emptyset$. If this condition holds for every $s_0 \in S$ then we simply say: π -disjoint sets.

Definition 3.4. Let X be S-space. Proximity δ on space X is called S-proximity if it satisfy the following: Compatibility with action:

 $A\overline{\delta}B \iff \forall s_0 \in S_e, \qquad \exists U \in N_{s_0}(S_e) : \qquad U^{-1}A\overline{\delta}U^{-1}B.$

We write $A \ll_{\pi} B$ if A and B^c are π -disjoint (where $B^c := X \setminus B$) that is for every $s_0 \in S$ there exists $U \in N_{s_0}(G)$ such that $s^{-1}A \subset t^{-1}B$ for every $s, t \in U$. It is also equivalent to saying that $U^{-1}A \subset U \star B$.

Remark 3.5. Let B be a S-space and δ be a S-proximity. If $A\overline{\delta}B$, A and B are π -disjoint sets. If $A \subseteq B$ with respect to δ , then $A \ll_{\pi} B$.

Definition 3.6. Let $\pi : S \times X \to X$ be a given action. A bounded function $f \in C^*(X)$ is said to be π -uniformly continuous at $s_0 \in S$ if every every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a neighborhood $U \in N_{s_0}$ such that $|f(sx) - f(s_0x)| < \varepsilon$ for every $s \in U, x \in X$. Or, equivalently, the orbit map $\tilde{f} : S \to C(X), s \mapsto fs$ is continuous. We denote family of these functions by $C^*_{\pi}(X)$.

It's equivalently to say, that:

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists U \in N_{s_0} : |f(s_1 x) - f(s_2 x)| < \varepsilon, \forall s_1, s_2 \in U.$$

The set $C^*_{\pi}(X)$ is an S-invariant Banach unital subalgebra of C(X). Easy to see, that if δ a proximity on S-space X is S-proximity, then function $\breve{s} : X \to X$ is δ -proximity continuous.

Lemma 3.7. For every compact S-space X we have $C_{\pi}(X) = C(X)$.

Theorem 3.8. [16] There exists a natural 1-1 correspondence between S-compactifications of X and closed unital subalgebras of $C_{\pi}(X)$. In particular, $C_{\pi}(X)$ determines the maximal S-compactification $\beta_S : X \to \beta_S X$.

Proof. Sketch.

Lemma 3.9. If $F \in C_{\pi}(X)$ separates A and B in X then cl[A] and cl[B] are π -disjoint.

Proposition 3.10. Let δ be S-proximity on space X. Then every function $f \in A_{\delta}$ is π -uniform. And moreover subalgebra A_{δ} is unital S-invariant subalgebra of $C^*_{\pi}(X)$.

Proof. Let f be proximity continuous function with respect to the proximities δ and $\delta'(\text{natural proximity on } I = [0, 1])$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, then there exist finite δ' -uniform cover $\mathscr{A} = \{A_i\}_{i=1}^n$ of I with respect to a cover $\mathscr{B} = \{B_i\}_{i=1}^n$ (i.e. $B_i \in A_i$) such that for every $i = 1, \ldots, n \Longrightarrow diam(A_i) < \varepsilon$. Since function f is proximity continuous, $f^{-1}(\mathscr{A})$ is δ -uniform cover of X with respect to the cover $f^{-1}(\mathscr{B})$ (e.i. $f^{-1}(B_i) \in f^{-1}(A_i)$ for every i). Since δ is S-proximity, for every $s_o \in S$ implies, that there exist $U \in N_{s_0}(S)$, such that for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$

$$U^{-1}f^{-1}(B_i) \subset U \star f^{-1}(A_i).$$

Now, for every $x \in X$ and $s \in U$ there exist $y \in X$, such that $x \in s^{-1}y$. For y, there exist $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, such that: $y \in f^{-1}(B_j)$. We have that for every $s \in U$ following:

$$x \in s^{-1}y \subset U^{-1}f^{-1}(B_j) \subset U \star f^{-1}(A_j) \Longrightarrow sx \in f^{-1}(A_j) \Longrightarrow f(sx) \in A_j.$$

Since $diam(A_j) < \varepsilon$, we have $\forall s', s'' \in U$ satisfy, that $|f(s'x) - f(s''x)| < \varepsilon$. For every $s \in S$, function \check{s} proximity continues and $\forall f \in A_{\pi}$, satisfy, that real valued function $fs = \check{s} \circ f : X \to \mathbb{R}, (fs)(x) := f(sx)$ is composition of two proximity continues functions, therefore $fs \in A_{\delta}$.

Proposition 3.11. Let \mathcal{A} be a S-invariant subalgebra of $C^*_{\pi}(X)$ on S-space X. Then $\delta_{\mathcal{A}}$ is S-proximity on space X.

Proof. Let us $C\overline{\delta}_{\mathcal{A}}D$. Now by construction we assume, that there exist $s_0 \in S$, such that:

$$\forall U \in N_{s_0}(S), U^{-1}C\delta_{\mathcal{A}}U^{-1}D \Longrightarrow \forall f \in \mathcal{A}, \operatorname{cl}[f(U^{-1}C)] \cap \operatorname{cl}[f(U^{-1}D)] \neq \emptyset.$$

Be Remark 3.5, we assume that C and D is not π -disjoint, these mean that:

$$\forall U \in N_{s_0}, \ U^{-1}C \cap U^{-1}D \neq \emptyset.$$

For every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $g \in \mathcal{A}$ implies $f := s_o g \in \mathcal{A}$ and π -uniformity of g follow, there exist $V \in N_{s_0}$, such that $|g(s_0 x) - g(s x)| < \varepsilon/3, \forall (s, x) \in V \times X$.

On the our assumption, for chosen ε , neighborhood V and function $f := s_0 g$ satisfy the following:

$$\operatorname{cl}[f(V^{-1}C)] \cap \operatorname{cl}[f(V^{-1}D)] \neq \emptyset \Longrightarrow \exists (\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in U^{-1}C \times U^{-1}D, |f(\bar{x}) - f(\bar{y})| < \varepsilon/3$$

This mean, that there exist $s', s'' \in V$, such that $(c, d) := (s'\bar{x}, s''\bar{y}) \in C \times D$ and satisfy $|g(s_0\bar{x}) - g(s_0\bar{y})| < \varepsilon/3$. We note, that:

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \forall g \in \mathcal{A}; \exists (c, d) \in C \times D,$$

$$|g(c) - g(d)| = |g(s'\bar{x}) - g(s''\bar{y})| \le |g(s'\bar{x}) - g(s_0\bar{x})| + |g(s_0\bar{y}) - g(s''\bar{y})| + |g(s_0\bar{x}) - g(s_0\bar{y})| < \varepsilon.$$

This implies, that:

$$\forall g \in \mathcal{A}, \operatorname{cl}[g(C)] \cap \operatorname{cl}[g(D)] \neq \emptyset \Longrightarrow C\delta_{\mathcal{A}}D.$$

It is in contradiction with our assumption.

?? Smirnov

4. Some "good" examples of equicompactifications

The following example suggests several interesting questions of an analytical and geometrical nature.

4.1. Unit ball of Hilbert space. This example from [4, p.246-258].

Let \mathscr{H} be an infinite-dimensional real or complex Hilbert space. Let S and \mathscr{B} be the unit sphere and unit ball, both endowed with the weak(Tychonoff) topology, τ_w . A net $\{x_\alpha\}$ converges to x_0 in this topology or we say weak converging, $x_\alpha \to^w x_0$ iff $\langle x_\alpha, y \rangle \to \langle x_o, y \rangle, \forall y \in \mathscr{H}$.

Fix an orthonormal basis basis E in \mathscr{H} . It is easy to see that each $x \in \mathscr{B}$ a basic neighborhood of x in \mathscr{B} has form:

$$O_{\varepsilon}^{F} = \{ z \in \mathscr{B} : |\langle e, x - z \rangle| < e, \forall e \in F \},\$$

where $\varepsilon > 0$ and F is finite subset of E. It is well known, that \mathscr{B} is compact and \mathbb{S} is dense in \mathscr{B} . In other words, the inclusion $i : \mathbb{S} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{B}$ is proper compactification of \mathbb{S} .

Also we define space of action. $G := \mathscr{U}(\mathscr{H})$ be the group of all unitary operators (linear isomorphic function, $T : H \to H$) of \mathscr{H} . There are three topologies on space G:

• the strong topology or uniform(norm) topology,

$$T_{\alpha} \rightrightarrows T \iff ||T_{\alpha} - T|| \to 0;$$

• the strong* topology

$$T_{\alpha} \to^* T \iff ||T_{\alpha}x - Tx|| \to 0, \forall x \in \mathscr{H};$$

• the weak topology;

 $T_{\alpha} \to^{w} T \Longleftrightarrow T_{\alpha} x \to^{w} T x, \forall x \in \mathscr{H} \Longleftrightarrow \langle T_{\alpha} x, y \rangle \to \langle T x, y \rangle, \forall x, y \in \mathscr{H};$

In what follows we will consider G with strong^{*} operator topology. A basic neighborhood of identity operator I in G is given by

$$U_{\varepsilon}^{F} = \{ T \in G : \|Te - e\| < \varepsilon, \forall e \in F \},\$$

where $\varepsilon < 0$ and F is finite subset of E. The natural action $\pi : G \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ of G on the \mathcal{H} is defined by, $\pi(T, x) = Tx$, for all $T \in G$ and $x \in \mathcal{H}$ is jointly continuous, also $\pi|_{\mathscr{B}}$ and $\pi|_{\mathbb{S}}$ are well defined on \mathscr{B} and \mathbb{S} . This means, that $\mathcal{H}, \mathscr{B},$ \mathbb{S} are G-spaces. Since \mathscr{B} is compact and \mathbb{S} is dense in it, the inclusion $i : \mathbb{S} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{B}$ is G-compactification and in other words \mathbb{S} is G-Tychonoff space.

Problem 4.1. To describe of all *G*-compactifications of \mathbb{S} , by simple geometrical characterization.

8

First of all we will describe important step to this problem is to find the greatest G-compactification of \mathbb{S} .

Theorem 4.2. A function $f : \mathbb{S} \to \mathbb{R}(\mathbb{C})$ is π -uniform if and only if there is continuous function $\hat{f} : \mathscr{B} \to \mathbb{R}(\mathbb{C})$. Consequently, the inclusion $i : \mathbb{S} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{B}$ is (up to equivalence) the greatest G-compactification of \mathbb{S} .

To describe all *G*-compactifications of *S* we will consider separately the real and complex cases. First suppose that \mathscr{H} is real Hilbert space. For any a, b with $0 \leq b \leq a \leq 1$, consider the following relation \sim on \mathscr{B} .

$$x \sim y \text{ iff } \begin{cases} x = y, \text{ or} \\ \|x\| \leq a \text{ and } y = -x, \text{ or} \\ \|x\| \leq b \text{ and } \|y\| \leq b. \end{cases}$$

Easy to see that relation \sim is closed equivalence on \mathscr{B} and invariant under the action. So the quotient space $\mathscr{B}_{a,b} := \mathscr{B} / \sim$ has natural structure of a *G*-space, such that the natural surjection $p : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}_{a,b}$ is *G*-equivariant. By φ_{ab} we denote the restriction of p on sphere S. Clearly, φ_{ab} is a *G*-compactification of S, and it is equivalent ti φ_{cd} iff a = c and b = d.

Theorem 4.3. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{S} \to Y$ be a *G*-compactification of \mathbb{S} . Then there are unique numbers *a* and *a* in interval [0, 1] with $b \leq a$ such that φ is equivalent to φ_{ab} .

4.2. Some Maximal *G*-compactifications of \mathbb{R}^n . This example have given by Yu. Smirnov in [18]. Now we will see some simple geometrical object, which will be compactification of \mathbb{R}^n under natural actions. We will take the sphere $\mathbb{S}^n \approx \mathbb{R}^n \bigcup \{\infty\}$ and ball $\mathbb{B}^n \approx \mathbb{R}^n \bigcup \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$. Easy to see, that \mathbb{S}^n and \mathbb{B}^n are proper compactifications of \mathbb{R}^n .

Theorem 4.4. The sphere \mathbb{S}^n , $n \geq 2$ is a maximal G-compactification of \mathbb{R}^n under the action of group G of all homeomorphisms $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, taken with the topology of uniform convergence in the metric of \mathbb{S}^n .

Theorem 4.5. Then ball \mathbb{B}^n , $n \geq 2$ is a maximal *G*-compactification of \mathbb{R}^n under the group of all uniform homeomorphisms $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, whose inverse g^{-1} are also uniform, taken with the topology of uniform convergence in the metric of \mathbb{B}^n .

Problem 4.6. Find interesting concrete applications and examples in Topology and Functional Analysis for semigroup case.

References

- [1] S. Antonyan, Yu.M. Smirnov, Universal Objects and Bicompact Extensions for Topological Transformation Groups, DAN SSSR, tom 257, no. 3, p. 521-526 [in Russian].
- [2] C.E. Aull and R. Lowen (eds.), Handbook of the History of General Topology, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1998, vol.2, ISBN 0-7923-5030-0.

- 10
- [3] J.H. Carruth, J.A. Hildebrant and R.J. Koch, *The Theory of Topological Semigroups*, Pure and Applied Math. 75, Marcel Decker, NY-Basel, 1983.
- [4] D.N. Dikrajan, L.N. Stoyanov, I.R. Prodanov, *Topological Groups*, Marcel Decker Inc, New York and Basel, 1990.
- [5] R. Engelking, General Topology, PWM, Tom 60, vol 2, 1985.
- [6] R. Isbell, Uniform Space, Amer. Math. Soc. (Providence), 1964.
- [7] W. Gottshalk and G. Hedlund, Topological Dynamics, The Amer. Math. Soc., 1955.
- [8] J. de Vries, Can Every Tychonoff G-space Equivariantly be Embedded in a Compact Hausdorff G-spaces?, Math Centrum, Amsterdam, Afd. Zuivere Wisk. 36, 1975.
- J. de Vries, On the Existence of G-compactifications, Bull. Acad. Plon. Sci. Math., no. 26, 1978, p. 275-280.
- [10] M. Megrelishvili, Equivariant completions and compact extensions, Bull. Ac. Sc. Georgian SSR, 103:3 (1981), 549-552.
- [11] M. Megrelishvili, Equivariant normality, Bull. Ac. Sc. Georgian SSR, 111:1 (1983), 17-17 [in Russian].
- [12] M. Megrelishvili, Uniformity and topological transformation groups, Ph. D. Dissertation, Tbilisi State University, 1985 [in Russian].
- [13] M. Megrelishvili, A Tychonoff G-space not admitting a compact G-extension or a Glinearization, Russ. Math. Surv., 43:2 (1988), 177-178.
- [14] M. Megrelishvili, Compactification and factorization in the category of G-spaces, in: Categorical Topology, ed. J.Adamek and S.MacLane, World Scientific, Singapore, 1989, 220-237; MR 92c: 54031.
- [15] M. Megrelishvili and T. Scarr, Constructing Tychonoff G-Spaces Which Are Not G-Tychonoff, Topology and its Applications, vol. 86, 1998, no. 1, 69-81.
- [16] M. Megrelishvili, Compactifications of Semigroups and Semigroup Actions, preprint, 2006.
- [17] S.A. Naimpally and B.D. Warrack, *Proximity Spaces*, Cambridge University Press, 1970.
- [18] Yu. M. Smirnov, Some Topological aspects of the Theory Topological Transformation Groups, Lect in Math., Springer, 1977, p. 196-204
- [19] Yu. M. Smirnov, Can simple Geometrical Objects be Maximal Compact Extensions for \mathbb{R}^n ?, Communications of the Moscow Math. Society, 1994, p.214-215
- [20] H. Furstenberg and B. Weiss, Topological Dynamics and Combinatorial Number Theory, J. d'Anlyse Math, no. 42, 1978, p. 61-85.
- [21] Yu.M. Smirnov, Bicompact Extensions, Lecture Notes in Math, State University in Riga, 1979 [in Russian].
- [22] J. de Vries, Equivariant Embeddings of G-spaces, in: J. Novak (ed.), General Topology and its Relations to Modern Analysis and Algebra IV, Part B, Prague, 1977, p. 485-493.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, BAR-ILAN UNIVERSITY, 52900 RAMAT-GAN, ISRAEL *E-mail address*: lgugel@gmail.com